
 

Inside Fire 
The following Memorandum Opinion and 

Order was recently written by Judge Susan Nel-
son of the United District Court of Minnesota 
pertaining to a civil fire case.  Although this 
opinion is long, it is our belief that it is impor-
tant that we provide our clients with the most 
recent information that may assist them in their 
subrogation recovery.  A full PDF copy of this 
opinion is available on our website at: 
 www/whitemorefire.com 

____________ 
 

CIC Partners, v. Sunbeam Products, Inc. 
d/b/a Jarden Consumer Solutions.  
United States District Court, District of  
Minnesota, Civil No. 09-3274 (SRN/
SER) 
 
 This action arises out of an 
apartment fire that occurred on June 14, 
2007.  Plaintiff, CIC Partners (“CIC”), 
owned and operated a rental property 
located in Northfield, Minnesota.  
(Compl. ¶ 1.) Irene and Leonard Horejsi 
rented a unit in the building where the 
fire at issue occurred.  (Horejsi Dep. At 6
-24, Ex. 1 to Aff. of William N. Barron in 
Supp. Mot. Exclude Rahman [Doc. No. 
26-1])  Approximately five years earlier, 
the Horejsis had purchased a Sunbeam 
heating pad.  Mrs. Horejsi testified that 
the heating pad was used in bed to 
warm her husband’s feet because he had 
poor circulation.  (Id at 17.)  Mrs.. Hore-
jsi taped the heating pad to the mattress 
pad so that it would stay in place.  (Id at 
56.)    

An extension cord was attached to the 
heating pad, with a rug placed over the 
cord, between the bed and the electrical 
outlet.  (Id.  19-20.)  Typically, Mrs. Hore-
jsi turned the heating pad on and off for 
her husband’s use.  (Id. At 79.)  On June 
14, 2007, however, the heating pad was 
not turned on, nor had it been in use for a 
period of several weeks before the fire.  
(Id. 83-84.) 
 
 At approximately 1:30 a.m. on 
June 14, 2007, Mr. Horejsi woke his wife, 
stating that he believed a  blanket on the 
bed was on fire.  (Id.  At 13.)  Mrs. Horejsi 
observed fire coming from the middle of 
the blanket, along the foot of the bed and 
extending down the side.  She rolled up 
the blanket and carried it outside.  (Id. 13-
14; 98-99.)  The Horejsis and the other 
occupants of the rental complex safely 
evacuated the building, but the fire con-
tinued, causing significant property dam-
age.  (Compl. ¶ 6.) 
 
 A. Ronald Rahman’s Opinion 
 
 Ronald Rahman, Deputy Investi-
gator with the Fire Marshal Division of 
the Department of Public Safety, investi-
gated the fire scene.  He is a Certified Fire 
Investigator, has taught fire investigation 
courses at community colleges and the 
Minnesota  Bureau of Criminal Apprehen-
sion, and has investigated “hundreds, if 
not thousands” of fires.  (Rahman Dep. At 
95-96) [Doc. No. 26-2]).  Rahman has 
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worked for the State Fire Marshal during 
two periods:  from 1985 to 1993, and from 
1999 to present.  In between these two peri-
ods, Rahman worked as a claims invesetiga-
tor for an insurance company.  (Id. At 6.) 
 
 On the day of the fire, Rahman re-
ceived a page to go to the scene of the fire.  
Rahman examined the interior of the apart-
ment building at the request of the North-
field Assistant Fire Chief, Jeff Marchacek.  
(Rahman Report at 3. Ex. 3 to Barron Aff. 
[Doc. No. 25-3]).  Rahman prepared an initial 
report of his investigation of the fire, dated 
June 20, 2007, as well as a supplemental re-
port, dated August 8, 2007.1  (Id.;Rahman 
Dep. At 12, Ex. 2 to Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 26-
2].)  In his report, Rahman indicates that 
upon his arrival at the fire scene, he observed 
heavy smoke damage in the hallways, with 
heat damage apparent above the doorway to 
the Horejsi’s unit.  (Rahman Report at 3, Ex. 
3 to Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 26-2]).  He de-
scribes the Horejsi’s bedroom as significantly 
damaged throughout, with the lowest area of 
fire damage located at the foot of the bed in 
front of the dresser directly in front of the 
bed.  (Rahman Report at 4-5 [Doc. No. 26-
3]).  In his report, Rahman also describes 
debris from the fire in this area: 
 
 “During this process, small gauge 
stranded wires were noted in and under the 
fire debris.  The significantly melted remains 
of a small plastic oblong object were noted 
bonded to a piece of floor carpet closest to 
the northwest corner of the dresser.  Utiliz-
ing a carpet knife, the edges of the object 
were cut loose of the carpet and the object 
was turned over.  The underside of the object 
was white in color and plastic.  It still re-
tained the original shape and design on the 
protected side.  Further visual examination of 
this object revealed it to be a plug-in for ei-
ther an electric blanket or a heating pad.” 
 
(Id. At 5.0 
 
_____________ 
 
1Rahman’s initial report of June 20, 2007, and 
his supplemental report of August 8, 2007, 
were submitted as a single exhibit, Ex. 3 to 
Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 26-3.])  The initial re-
port is at pages 1-10 of the exhibit, and the 
supplemental report is at pages 11-12.  Unless 
otherwise noted, the Court cites to both 

documents collectively as the “Rahman Re-
port.” In addition to Mr. Rahman’s initial and 
supplemental reports, the parties deposed him 
on October 19, 2010.  (Rahman Dep., Ex. 2 to 
Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 26-2]). 
 
 In addition, Rahman examined the 
remains of the bed.  There, he also observed 
small gauge stranded electrical wires on top of 
the fire remains at the foot of the bed.  (Id.)  
Rahman’s report indicates that only the indi-
vidual springs of the mattress were 
“predominately totally annealed in the foot area 
of the bed, while springs close to the head of 
the bed still retained their original shape and 
tensile strength.”  (Id.) Rahman examined the 
springs throughout the bed, but did not find 
any other small gauge stranded wires in any 
other location besides the foot of the bed.  (Id.  
at 5-6.) 
 
 Rahman ultimately concluded that 
“this case may be marked as accidental in cause, 
with the most probable ignition source being 
the Sunbeam heating pad that was located at 
the foot of the bed.”  (Rahman Dep. At 12 [Doc. 
No. 26-3].)  In his deposition, Rahman further 
noted that, in addition to the annealed mattress 
springs found only in the area near the foot of 
the bed, “the only edges of the floor joists that 
are damaged in that entire room are above the 
bed, and most specifically, above the foot of the 
bed, above the area where this particular heat 
pad was.”  (Id. At 94.) 
 
 Rahman testified about how and why 
he ruled out certain other possible causes of the 
fire.  For example, he testified to his opinion 
that fire did not originate in the electrical outlet 
on the east wall of the bedroom: 
 
 [U]sually, if an outlet would be an area 
of origin, the heat factor is going to be at the 
area of origin, which in this case, then, would 
have been the outlet.  That should have dam-
aged the wall stud, which is wood, in this case, 
directly adjacent to it and where the outlet is 
fastened to.  That didn’t happen. 
 
(Id. at 92.)  In addition, Rahman opined that 
the extension cord was not the likely cause of 
the fire.  (Id. At 87-88.)  When asked if he was 
aware of other fires caused by electrical appli-
ances in the “off” position, Rahman testified 
that he has either investigated or known of 
other fires caused by plugged-in electrical ap-
pliances in the “off” position. (Id. at 97.) 

 B.  Paul Hansen’s Opinion 
 
 Plaintiff’s insurer retained EFI 
Global to determine the cause and origin of 
the fire.  Paul Hansen, an electrical engineer 
employed by EFI Global, provided an expert 
report and opinion in this case.  (Hansen Re-
port, Ex. 4 to Aff. of William N. Barron in 
Supp. Mot. Exclude Hansen.  [Doc. No. 30-
4].)  Hansen considers himself to be an ex-
pert in electrical engineering, particularly 
with respect to forensic work related to elec-
trical engineering.  (Hansen Dep. at 14, Ex. 5 
to Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 30-5].)  He possesses 
an electrical engineering degree and is a 
member of the National Fire Protection Asso-
ciation (“NFPA”).2 (Id. at 12.) 
 
 Hansen and Keith Tarbox, a fire 
investigator for EFI Global, participated in an 
on-site investigation on July 31, 2007, along 
with investigators for Defendant Sunbeam.  
(Id. at 35-37.)  In his report, Hansen describes 
his observations based on the July 31, 2007 
visit,  (Hansen Report at 3, Ex. 4 to Barron 
Aff. [Doc. No 30-4].)  In addition, he de-
scribes an initial nondestructive examination 
of the preserved evidence on September 24, 
2007.  (Id. at 3-4.)  Based on this September 
examination, he concluded that no additional 
destruction on the remains of the heating pad 
was necessary, as no further tests or exami-
nation could be done in Hansen’s laboratory 
on any arced or potentially arced wires.  (Id.)  
All of the parties’ representatives again exam-
ined the evidence on November 8, 2007. 
 
 Hansen testified that, in order to 
reach his opinion, he conducted forensic ex-
aminations of the fire scene debris, consulted 
photographs of the fire scene, spoke with Mr. 
Rahman about his investigation and the eye 
witness accounts of the fire, and spoke with 
his colleague Tarbox about his investigation 
and the eye witness accounts.  (Hansen Dep. 
at 44-47, Ex. 5 to Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 30-
51.)  In his report, Hansen discusses the heat-
ing pad as the source of the fire: 
 
___________ 
 
2 In addition to serving as a professional asso-
ciation, the NFPA promulgates codes and 
standards applicable to several fields, includ-
ing fire investigation. 
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 Very little of the electrical heating 
pad on the bed was recovered.  It can be iden-
tified as a Northern Electric/Sunbeam heat-
ing pad from the two recovered thermostats.  
The controller for this device, which as elec-
trical parts consisting basically of a three-
position switch, was unrecognizable post-
fire and was not recovered in any identifiable 
condition.  While its condition does not de-
finitively demonstrate that its failure was the 
ignition source of the fire, its current state is 
certainly consistent with this hypothesis.  
The other arcing noted in the nearby wiring 
in the bedroom is also consistent with the 
hypothesis that the electric heating pad, 
which was at the foot of the bed at the time 
of the fire, was the ignition source of the fire.  
While it is possible to construct theories of 
how the arcing in the other wiring might 
have ignited this fire, such theories are not 
consistent with the eyewitness accounts of 
the fire nor are they consistent with the com-
plete destruction of the controller/switch. 
 
 The only theory consistent with the 
known facts of the case is a failure of the 
switch assembly in the heater controller re-
sulting in the ignition of cloth materials at 
the foot of the bed. 
 
(Hansen Report at 6, Ex. 4 to Barron Aff. 
[Doc. No. 30-41].) 
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 In reaching “the inescapable conclu-
sion . . . that the cause of this fire was the 
failure of the Northern Electric/Sunbeam 
electric heating pad’s switch assembly” (id. at 
7), Hansen eliminated other possible causes 
of the fire.  For example, he ruled out the 
Horejsi’s electric blanket as the cause of the 
fire because it was not plugged in at the time 
of the fire, was almost intact, and the blan-
ket’s cord set was still in the room.  (Hansen 
Dep. At 66, Ex. 5 to Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 30-
5].)  In addition, he noted that the fire was 
observed to occur around Mr. Horejsi’s feet, 
in the area where the heating pad was lo-
cated.  (Id. at 71.)  Hansen also testified about 
his conclusion that the failure of the exten-
sion cord was not the possible cause of the 
fire.  He eliminated the extension cord due to 
its location and because, as an electrical prin-
ciple, the cord would have carried voltage, as 
opposed to electrical load.  Given these cir-
cumstances, Hansen testified that it would 
have been “very, very difficult to get a cord 
failure under these conditions.”  (Id. at 99.) 
 
 C. Litigation 
 
 Plaintiff’s filed suit in state court in 
October 2009, alleging negligence, strict li-
ability and breach of express and implied 
warranties.  (Compl. ¶¶7-20.)  Defendant 
removed  the case to this Court in November 
2009.  (Notice or Removal [Doc. No. 1].) 

 Defendant moves for summary judg-
ment on all of the Plaintiff’s claims.  Defen-
dant contends that the Plaintiff has failed to 
provide sufficient evidence of causation.  In 
particular, Sunbeam argues that Plaintiff has 
not submitted admissible expert evidence 
showing that a defect in the heating pad 
caused the fire.  Defendant seeks to exclude 
the opinions of the Plaintiff’s expert Paul 
Hansen and the Plaintiff’s “unretained, undis-
closed expert Ronald C. Rahman,” on the 
grounds that the experts failed to use reliable 
methodology in investigating the fire and in 
rendering their opinions.  (Def.’s Mem. In 
Supp. Mot. Summ. J. at 1-2 [Doc. No. 35.])  
Specifically, Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s 
experts did not adhere to the applicable pro-
fessional guideline, NFPA 921: Guide for Fire 
and Explosion Investigations.  As to Rahman, 
Sunbeam contends that not only should his 
testimony be excluded for substantive rea-
sons, but because Plaintiff’s failed to timely 
disclose him as an expert, his testimony 
should be excluded on procedural grounds. 
 
 Even if the Court does not exclude 
Plaintiff’s expert opinions, Defendant argues 
Plaintiff still cannot prove causation.  Sun-
beam contends that the Plaintiff’s strict li-
ability claim subsumes its breach of warranty 
of merchantability claim, which, Defendant 
contends, fails because the express warranty 
on the heating pad had expired at the time of 
the fire.  Finally, Defendant argues that Plain-
tiff’s failure to warn claim fails because Plain-
tiff has not provided any evidence showing 
that different or additional warnings would 
have prevented Plaintiff’s damages.   
 
 In its response memorandum, Plain-
tiff argues that the opinion held by Rahman 
and Hansen are based on reliable methodolo-
gies and are admissible under the standards 
set forth in Daubert and Fed. R. Evid. 702.  In 
addition, Plaintiff avers that it will withdraw 
its warranty claims in Count III of the Com-
plaint.  However, it argues that its claim for 
negligence and strict liability should survive 
summary judgment, as Plaintiff has submit-
ted eyewitness testimony and expert opinion 
as to the cause of the fire.  (PI.’s Opp’n Mem. 
at 26 [Doc, No. 43].)  Moreover, Plaintiff con-
tends that circumstantial evidence of product 
malfunction is a sufficient  basis on which to 
submit a strict liability claim to a jury.  (Id.) 

 In this edition of Inside Fire, we have devoted the major-
ity of our content to reprint an opinion written by a Minnesota 
District Judge.  This opinion has been a topic of many lawyers, 
investigators as well as other experts as we perform our jobs 
each an everyday.  I have always been a proponent of NFPA 921.  
I have embraced the guidelines and apply them at each fire scene 
we investigate.  But, I also am a proponent of the various other 
tools that are out there to assist us in the ongoing, ever-changing 
field of fire investigation.  It is important that we apply these 
tools in a credible, commonsense approach, as like most things, 

there is not a one size fit all approach to anything.   
 
 A full copy of the opinion is available at our website:  
www.whitemorefire.com and I encourage you to read it, become familiar with it, and 
utilize the tools that have been developed to help us achieve our common goals. 
 
 Thank you for your continued support and we look forward to seeing all of 
our at our upcoming seminar in September.  Please watch your email and future edi-
tions of Inside Fire for more details. 
 

 Robert B. Whitemore, CFI 
President, Whitemore Fire Consultants, Inc.  
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III. Discussion 
 
 A. Expert Testimony 
 
 Opinion testimony from an expert 
“qualified . . . by knowledge, skill, experience, 
training or education” is admissible “[i]f sci-
entific, technical, or other specialized knowl-
edge will assist the trier of fact” and if “(1) the 
testimony is based upon sufficient facts or 
data, (2) the testimony is the product of reli-
able principles and methods, and (3) the wit-
ness has applied the principles and methods 
reliably to the facts of the case.”  Fed. R. Evid. 
702.  The Court, acting as a “gatekeeper,” 
must evaluate whether proffered expert testi-
mony passes muster under Rule 702, Daubert 
v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 
U.S.579, 597-98 (1993), bearing in mind that 
the touchstone for admitting such testimony 
is assistance to the trier of fact.  See, e.g., Lar-
son v. Kempker, 414 F(8th Cir.2005). Courts 
may allow expert testimony only when it is 
both relevant and reliable, Daubert, 509 U.S. 
at 597-98, but “Rule 702 reflects an attempt 
to liberalize the rules governing the admis-
sion of expert testimony,” and “favors admis-
sibility over exclusion.”  Lauzon v. Senco 
Prods., Inc.,207 F.3d 681, 686 (8th Cir. 2001).  
Accordingly, doubts regarding the usefulness 
of an expert’s testimony should be resolved in 
favor or admissibility.”  Robinson v. GEICO 
Gen. Ins. Co., 447 F.3d 1096, 1100 (citing 29 
Charles Alan Wright & Victor James Gold, 
Federal Practice and Procedure: Evidence 
§6265 (1997)).  “The exclusion of an expert’s 
opinion is proper only if it is so fundamen-
tally unsupported that it can offer no assis-
tance to the jury,” Wood v. Minn. Mining & 
Mfg. Co., 112 F.3d 306, 309 (8th Cir. 1997) 
(internal quotations and citation omitted). 
 
 In screening expert testimony under 
Rule 702, a district court applies a three-part 
test. 
 
 First, evidence based on scientific, 
technical, or other specialized knowledge 
must be useful to the finder of fact in decid-
ing the ultimate issue of fact.  This is the ba-
sic rule of relevancy.  Second, the proposed 
witness must be qualified to assist the finder 
of fact.  Third, the proposed evidence must be 
reliable or trustworthy in an evidentiary 
sense, so that, if the finder of fact accepts it as 
true, it provides the assistance the finder of 
fact requires. 

Lauzon, 270 F.3d at 686 (internal citations and 
quotations omitted). 
 
 1. Paul Hanson 
 
 Applying this test to Hansen’s prof-
feed expert opinion, the Court finds it suffi-
ciently reliable to be admitted under Rule 702 
and Daubert.  Courts analyze reliability from a 
flexible, case-specific standpoint.  Kumho Tire 
Co. v Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 149-150 (1999).  
Factors to be considered are whether the ex-
pert’s theory or technique can be or has been 
tested, whether it has been or is subject to peer 
review, and whether the theory or technique is 
generally accepted within the relevant scien-
tific community.  Id.  Defendant does not chal-
lenge Hansen’s qualifications, but rather, his 
methodology, arguing that Hansen’s opinions 
and testimony are not the product of any reli-
able methodology, and are not in conformity 
with  NFPA 921.  In response, Plaintiff argues 
that Hansen’s methods are generally consistent 
with NFPA 921, are reliable and, in any event, 
the NFPA methodology is not the exclusive 
methodology available. 
 
 Defendant’s fire investigator Ron Hall 
contends that the 2004 edition of NFPA 921, in 
effect at the time of the fire at issue, provides a 
working framework by which effective fire in-
vestigations and cause and origin analyses may 
be accomplished.  (Hall Aff. ¶¶ 2-3, Ex. 6 to 
Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 30-6].)  Hall attests that, 
among the procedures set forth in NFPA 921, 
fire scene investigators are advised to utilize 
fire scene reconstruction, perform adequate 
debris removal, interview owners and occu-
pants about the fire, locate all sources of poten-
tial ignition, and eliminate other possible 
sources through developing, testing and reject-
ing of alternative hypotheses.  (Id. At ¶¶ 4-16.)  
Sunbeam’s expert further contends that an in-
vestigator should use the scientific method as 
the method for data gathering, hypotheses de-
velopment and hypotheses testing.  (Id. at ¶ 15. 
 
 From the description of Hansen’s test-
ing methodology, the Court is satisfied that, for 
purposes of the Daubert standard, Hansen 
reached his conclusions using generally-
accepted methodology.  As stated in his report, 
his examination of the fire scene “proceeded 
along the general guidelines as outlined in 
NFPA 921 and other guidelines typically used 
in the fire investigation profession.”  (Hansen 
Report at 2, Ex. 4 to Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 30-
4].)  Consistent with NFPA 921, Hansen 

reviewed the available evidence, obtained 
information regarding eyewitness accounts, 
inspected and photographed the fire scene, 
evaluated the electrical arcing and eliminated 
certain causes of the fire.  While Hansen may 
not have performed every method of fire 
scene investigation set forth in NFPA 921, he 
appears to have utilized many of the tech-
niques set forth in the guideline.  As recog-
nized by this Court in American Family Mut. 
Ins. Co., v. Hewlett-Packard Co., 07-CV-792 
(ADM/AJB), 2008 WL 2130217, *6(D. Minn. 
May 19, 2008), “although compliance with 
NFPA 921 may be an important credential for 
expert testimony, it does not have talismanic 
significance.”  In American Family, this Court 
rejected the defendant’s argument that the 
plaintiff’s expert’s lack of adherence to NFPA 
921 methodology rendered the expert’s inves-
tigation unreliable.  Id. At *4-6.  The plain-
tiff’s experts had made clear that they identi-
fied five possible sources of ignition and then 
used the scientific method to determine 
which was the most probable source.  Id. at 
*6. 
 
 In this case, Hansen testified as to 
the possible causes of the fire and why he 
determined that the heating pad was the 
cause.  As Hansen explained, a heating pad, 
plugged in, in the “off” position, can start a 
fire: 
 
 It’s a switch failure, regardless of 
when the last time the switch was operated.  
Switch failures occur for—well what  causes 
a fire is you have a conducted path of resis-
tance which causes resistance heating, ignit-
ing the nearby combustibles.  [The] [f]irst 
fuel would be the bedding material.  The 
blanket seems to be in close proximity, and 
the fitted sheet would also qualify as an early 
fuel. 
 
(Hansen Dep. at 92, Ex. 5 to  Barron Aff. 
[Doc. No. 30-5].)  Hansen further testified 
that the heating pad switch was the only 
ignition source that could not be eliminated 
as the cause of the fire.  (Id.) 
 
 Defendant is particularly critical of 
Hansen’s elimination of the extension court 
as a possible cause of the fire.  However, Han-
sen explained that he ruled out the extension 
cord not only due to its location, but because, 
in his experience, it would be very difficult to 
generate heat in a cord that carries voltage, 
but not load.  While Defendant argues that 
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Hansen was confused about the location of 
the extension cord, the evidence also demon-
strates that Hansen’s judgment was not 
based only on the location of the cord.  Han-
sen noted that the fire was observed around 
Mr. Horejsi’s feet, in the area where the heat-
ing pad was located.  (Id. at 99.) 
 
 Hansen has sufficiently explained 
his methodology and, while Defendant dis-
agrees with his opinion, this difference of 
opinion may be explored through fulsome 
cross-examination and the presentation of 
rebuttal expert opinion.  This Court reached 
the same conclusion in Quist v. Sunbeam 
Prods., Inc., 08-CV-5261 (DWF/AJB), 2010 
WL 1665254, *7-8 (D. Minn. Apr. 22, 2010), 
in which Sunbeam similarly moved to ex-
clude the testimony of two experts in a case 
involving a Sunbeam heating pad that was 
alleged to have caused a fatal fire.  Likewise, 
Sunbeam’s disagreement here with Hansen’s 
methodology and conclusions is not grounds 
for the exclusion of his opinion. 
 
 Defendant further argues that Han-
sen failed to test this theory on an exemplar, 
but, as Plaintiff contends, it would be diffi-
cult to test this theory, as it would appar-
ently require plugging in a Sunbeam heating 
pad, turning it to the “off” position, and wait-
ing for an unknown period of months, for a 
fire to occur.  Finally, while Defendant con-
tends that Hansen failed to interview Mrs. 
Horejsi and did not review her deposition 
transcript, this does not merit the exclusion 
of his testimony.3  Hansen reviewed Rah-
man’s report and spoke to both Rahman and 
Keith Tarbox about the eyewitness accounts.  
Mrs. Horejsi was clear in her testimony that 
she saw the fire only in the area of the bed 
near the heating pad and nowhere else in the 
room.  (Horejsi Dep. at 14, Ex. 1 to Barron Aff. 
[Doc. No. 26-1].)  For all of these reasons, 
Hansen is qualified to offer his opinion and, 
subject to proper foundation, his proffered 
testimony sufficiently satisfies the reliability 
requirements of Daubert. 
 
____________ 
 
3 The Court notes that as to the witnesses to 
the fire, only Mrs. Horejsi was deposed be-
cause Mr. Horejsi passed away in November 
2010.  (Horejsi Dep. at 41, Ex. 1 to Barron Aff. 
[Doc. No. 30-1]. 
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 As to the relevance of Mr. Hansen’s 
proffered testimony, the Court finds that his 
proffered opinion is highly relevant.  Defen-
dant offers no substantive argument to the 
contrary, other than its arguments against 
Hansen’s methodology.  Further, even Sun-
beam’s electrical engineering expert appar-
ently does not rule out the heating pad as a 
possible source of the fire.  Richard Blanch-
ard, Defendant’s expert, identifies three pos-
sible sources for the fire: the extension cord, 
the outlet at the head of the bed, and the 
heating pad control.  (Blanchard Rep. at 25, 
Ex. 1 to Decl. of Richard Blanchard [Doc, No. 
41-1].)  While Blanchard believes that the fire 
scene evidence does not indicate that the 
heating pad control caused the fire, he does 
not rule it out entirely.  (Id.)  Opinion evi-
dence as to the cause of the fire is the central 
issue in this case.  Such testimony is therefore 
relevant and will assist the trier of fact.  De-
fendant’s motion to exclude the testimony of 
Mr. Hansen is denied. 
 
 2. Ronald Rahman 
 
 As noted, Defendant argues that the 
opinion and testimony of Ronald Rahman 
should be excluded on procedural grounds 
due to Plaintiff’s untimely expert disclosure.  
Discovery of this case was to have been com-
pleted by April 1, 2011.  (Order of 1/25/11 [Doc. 
No. 20].)  At the hearing on Defendant’s in-
stant motions, counsel for Plaintiff repre-
sented that Plaintiff disclosed Rahman as an 
expert on May 4, 2011.  (Tr. Of 8/12/11 hearing 
[Doc. No. 48].)  However, Defendant appar-
ently had prior notice of Plaintiff’s intent to 
use Rahman as an expert witness, albeit not 
formal notice, as the instant motion to ex-
clude his expert testimony was filed on April 
15, 2011.  The parties had deposed Rahman 
several months earlier, on October 19, 2010.  
(Ex. 2 to Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 26-3].) 
 
 In Tomlin v. Holecek, 158 F.R.D. 132, 
136 (D. Minn. 1994), this Court considered 
factors set forth by the Eighth Circuit in de-
termining whether to exclude the testimony 
of a witness not disclosed in compliance with 
a pretrial order.  The factors include:  (1) the 
reason the party fails to name the witness; 
(2) the importance of the testimony; (3) the 
amount of time the opposing party needs to 
properly prepare for testimony; and (4) 
whether a continuance would in some way 
be useful.  Id.  Plaintiff offers no explanation 
for its failure to disclose Rahman as an expert 
in accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 26 and this

Court’s orders.  However, there is no evi-
dence that the delay and non-disclosure were 
tactical ploys.  Rather, the failure appears to 
have involved “oversight, neglect or inadver-
tence.”  Id.  “In and of itself, such an explana-
tion for untimely expert disclosures is insuffi-
cient to warrant an exclusion of the testi-
mony of those experts who were so belatedly 
disclosed.”  Id. 
 
 Turning to the second element of 
the analysis, there is no question that the 
testimony of Rahman is critical to the Plain-
tiff’s case.  Although he was not initially re-
tained to given an opinion as to the cause of 
the fire, in the course of his investigation on 
behalf of the State Fire Marshal, he reached 
conclusions about the fire and its cause.  His 
testimony therefore implicates Defendant’s 
liability.  Given Rahman’s role in investigat-
ing on behalf of the State Fire Marshal, at the 
very least, the parties considered him to be a 
fact witness from the outset of the case.  Rah-
man was consequently deposed.  Although 
his deposition occurred prior to Plaintiff’s 
disclosure of Rahman as an expert, Defen-
dant had the opportunity to question his 
conclusions and methodology.  On balance, 
the Court finds that the importance of Rah-
man’s testimony outweighs any harm to De-
fendant.  As to the factors involving the 
amount of time that the other side requires in 
order to properly prepare and any need for a 
continuance or delay, Plaintiff’s disclosure of 
Rahman, while late, came well in advance of 
the trial.  Defendant will have a full opportu-
nity to cross-examine Rahman at trial.  The 
Court will not exclude his testimony on the 
grounds of Plaintiff’s late expert disclosure. 
 
 As to the merits of Sunbeam’s mo-
tion to exclude Rahman’s testimony, as with 
Hansen’s testimony, Defendant argues that 
Rahman’s opinion and testimony should be 
excluded for its failure to strictly adhere to 
NFPA 921.  Sunbeam argues that Rahman’s 
conclusion was not reached through applica-
tion of the appropriate methodology.  Plain-
tiff rebuts Sunbeam’s position, arguing that 
Rahman followed proper methodology in 
conducting an investigation of the fire scene 
and that his opinion is reliable to the trier of 
fact. 
 
 The Court finds that Rahman’s tes-
timony is reliable and admissible, subject to 
proper foundation being laid.  Sunbeam’s 
challenges to Rahman’s testimony go to his 
credibility, not admissibility.  As to Rahman’s 
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methodology in investigating the fire, Rah-
man testified that, when investigating fires, 
he tries to follow the NFPA guidelines, using 
the scientific method.  (Rahman Dep. At 8; 
80, Ex. 2 to Barron Aff. [Doc. No. 26-2].)  
Rahman arrived at the fire scene on the day of 
the fire and conducted a visual inspection of 
the exterior and interior of the apartment 
building.  He spoke with witnesses and 
wrote a preliminary report.  He also exam-
ined the physical evidence from the fire and 
took photographs of the fire scene.  There is 
nothing about his approach that demon-
strates unreliability or some unusual, or inno-
vative departure from techniques used by fire 
investigators.  That Rahman does not de-
scribe each step of his methodology in lock-
step with the NFPA 921 guidelines is not 
fatal to the admissibility of his testimony. 
 
 This Court, and others, have reached 
the same conclusion.  As noted, in American 
Family, this Court found that a failure to 
strictly adhere to NFPA 921 does not render a 
fire investigation unreliable, nor is NFPA 921 
the exclusive standard for such investiga-
tions.  American Family, 2008 WL 2130217 at 
*4.  Similarly, in a state court case from Con-
necticut, Jordan v. Yankee Gas Services Co., 
No. X01CV940185567S, 2006 WL 280478, * 4 
(Conn. Super. Ct. Jan. 18, 2006), the defen-
dant gas company moved to preclude the 
testimony of two fire investigators with the 
Connecticut Fire Marshal’s Office, whom the 
plaintiff had disclosed as experts.  The court 
rejected the defendant’s argument and found 
the witnesses qualified to testify, even if they 
did not precisely follow NFPA 921: 
 
 While the NFPA 921 sets out a 
method of fire origin and cause investigation 
endorsed not only by [the experts at issue] 
but by professional organizations as valid, 
reliable, and authoritative and while it is a 
comprehensive guide, its contribution to fire 
science ought not be over-stated.  It may now 
be the preferred fire investigative method, 
but it was never intended to invalidate or 
supplant all other valid scientific methods.  
To suggest—as Yankee Gas does—that all 
origin and cause experts must follow the five 
(5) steps (described in Chapter 4 [of NFPA 
921]) comprising the basic methodology of a 
fire investigation in a ritualistic lock-step 
approach ignores not only other authoritative 
sources (i.e., Kirk’s Fire Investigation, the 
Fire Investigation Handbook, The Fire Pro-

tection Handbook, etc.) but also ignores the 
testimony of both investigators that they em-
ployed the same methodology but did not then 
identify it as “the scientific method.”  It is a jury 
question whether their investigation was based 
on valid and reliable methods of origin and 
cause fire investigation. 
 
Id. at *6. 
 
 Defendant also apparently takes issue 
with Rahman’s lack of testing of possible hy-
potheses for the fire.  Rahman testified that he 
concluded that the heating pad was the cause 
of the fire through the process of elimination. 
 
 Q.  Ever look in or make any determination 

how a heating pad such as this, that had 
not been turned on or used for about two 
months before the fire, could generate 
enough heat to cause a fire? 

 
 A.  By looking at the damages to the room 

and down to that area of the bed where fire 
was stated to be first and then doing the 
elimination process of what is there.  The 
only other item that was there, besides the 
mattress, the electric blanket, was the 
heating pad.  The electric blanket was not 
plugged in.  Therefore, it could not be con-
sidered as an ignition source because it had 
no potential power to it.  The only other 
item there, going back again, is the heating 
pad.  The area where the heating pad was, 
the springs were annealed, which is the 
losing of tensile strength and flattening out 
of the springs. 

 
(Id. at 83-84).  In his deposition, Rahman ac-

knowledged that as a State Fire Investigator, he 
is charged with determining whether a fire is 
accidental or criminal and what may have 
caused the fire.  (Id. at 85.)  He testified that as 
to this fire scene, he also was present when 
electrical engineers, including the parties’ ex-
perts, were processing the scene.  (Id. at 86.)   
He also conceded that he performed no scien-
tific testing to determine whether the heating 
pad was the source of the fire, but also stated 
“[h]owever, hypotheses can also be used as sce-
narios or potential scenarios and not just scien-
tific testing.” (Id. at 85.)   
 
 Rahman relies on his experience and 

training as a fire investigator, his personal ex-
amination of the fire scene and electrical evi-
dence, and interviews with witnesses.  He has  

has investigated hundreds of fire scenes.  He 
is familiar with NFPA 921, and also relies on 
the scientific method in conducting fire scene 
investigations.  His testimony is both rele-
vant to the central issue of the case and help-
ful to the trier of fact.  To the extent that 
Sunbeam disagrees with Rahman’s method-
ology and conclusion, Sunbeam may chal-
lenge Rahman’s credibility at trial, rebut his 
testimony with Sunbeam’s own witnesses 
and submit its own contrary evidence.  De-
fendant’s Daubert motion as to Rahman, 
however, is denied. 
 
 B.  Summary Judgment 
 
 Summary judgment is proper if 
there are no disputed issues of material fact 
and the moving party is entitled to judgment 
as a matter of law.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).  The 
moving party bears the burden of showing 
that the material facts in the case are undis-
puted.  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 
322 (1986); Whisenhunt v. S.W. Bell Tel., 573 
F.3d 565, 568 (8th Cir. 2009).  The Court 
must view the evidence, and the inferences 
that may be reasonably drawn from it, in the 
light most favorable to the nonmoving party.  
Massushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith 
Radio Corp. 475U.S. 574, 587 (1986); Weitz 
Co., LLC v. Lloyd’s of London, 574 F.3d 885, 
892 (8th Cir. 2009); Carraher v. Target Corp., 
503 F.3d 714, 716 (8th Cir. 2007).  The non-
moving party  may not rest on mere allega-
tions or denials, but must show through the 
presentation of admissible evidence that spe-
cific facts exist creating a genuine issue for 
trial. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 
U.S. 242, 256 (1986); Davenport c. Univ. of 
Ark. Bd. of Trustees, 553 F.3d 1110, 1113 (8th 
Cir. 2009) (citing Anderson, 477 U.S. at 247-
49). 
 
 1.  Warranty Claims 
 
 Plaintiff avers that it will withdraw 
its claims alleging breach of express and im-
plied warranties.  The Court therefore grants 
Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment 
in part, as it relates to the warranty claims. 
 
 2.  Negligence and Strict Liability 
 
 Sunbeam argues that Plaintiff’s re-
maining claims for negligence and strict li-
ability should be dismissed on summary 
judgment because Plaintiff cannot show that 
a design defect was the proximate cause of 
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the injury.  In addition, Sunbeam argues that 
Plaintiff’s failure to warn strict liability claim 
also fails. 
 
 a)  Defect 
 
 As to causation in general, to the 
extent that Defendant’s motion for summary 
judgment is premised upon the exclusion of 
Plaintiff’s expert testimony, it is denied.  Re-
garding the issue of defect, a design defect is 
a proximate cause of injury when the injury 
follows in unbroken sequence from the defect 
without an intervening cause.  Thompson v. 
Manitex, 04-CV-3046 (JRT/FLN), 2006 WL 
748280, *2 (D. Minn. Mar. 22, 2006) 
(citations omitted).  Sunbeam argues that 
summary judgment is appropriate because 
Plaintiff cannot show that the design of the 
heating pad’s switch assembly was the cause 
of  injury.  Plaintiff argues that circumstantial 
evidence of defect may be admissible to prove 
defect, citing Holkestad v. Coca-Cola Bot-
tling Co., 180 N.W.2d 860, 865 (Minn. 1970), 
and Lindsay v. McDonnell Douglas Aircraft 
Corp., 460 F.2d 631 (8th Cir. 1972). 
 
 It is true that circumstantial evi-
dence may be admitted to prove defect, but, 
as Defendant contends, this type of proof 
typically arises in res ipsa loquitur cases.  For 
example, Holkestad, a “classic” res ipsa loqui-
tur case, involving an exploding bottle of 
Coca Cola that injured the plaintiff, and for 
which there was no other explanation but 
that the bottle was defective.  180 N.W.2d at 
864.  Lindsay involved a new navy jet that 
crashed in the ocean with only four hours of 
total flight time.  Here, however, whether the 
heating pad caused the fire is not a res ipsa 
situation, but is, instead, an issue of strongly 
disputed fact.  Defendant has submitted ex-
pert testimony that rebuts Plaintiff’s theories. 
 
 Plaintiff’s experts opine that the fire 
was proximately caused by the heating pad.  
Electrical engineering expert Hansen specifi-
cally contends that the cause of the fire was 
the failure of the heating pad’s switch assem-
bly.  (Hansen Report at 7 [Doc. No. 30-4].)  
In his deposition, Hansen testified that the 
heating pad’s switch failure led to resistance 
heating which, in turn, ignited nearby com-
bustibles.  (Hansen Dep. at 94, Ex. 5 to Bar-
ron Aff. [Doc. No. 30-5].)  While Hansen may 
not use the word “defect,” implicit in his con-
clusion is that the heating pad switch was 
defective and proximately caused the fire. 
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 Defendant argues that the facts of 
this case are very similar to those of Fire-
man’s Fund Ins. Co. v. Canon, U.S.A., Inc., 
394 F.3d 1054 (8th Cir. 2005).  In that prod-
ucts liability action against a manufacturer of 
a copier that allegedly caused a fire, this 
Court excluded the plaintiff’s expert opin-
ions as unreliable.  The Court found that the 
experts’ proffered opinions did not follow the 
provision of NFPA 921 that requires an inves-
tigator to compare their hypothesis to all 
known facts by reconciling the empirical 
evidence with their theory.  This was particu-
larly true as the experts had reversed their 
opinions on the meaning of the burn pattern 
evidence—an about-face which “seriously 
undermine[d] the reliability of the experts’ 
opinions.”  Id. at 1059.  On appeal, the Eighth 
Circuit affirmed, finding that the Court did 
not abuse its discretion in excluding the 
opinions.  Id. at 1058.   Absent the excluded 
opinions of the fire causation experts, the 
Eighth Circuit agreed that the plaintiff pre-
sented no evidence of any defect in the cop-
ier.  Id. at 1060-61.  Even if the opinions had 
been admissible, the Eighth Circuit found 
that the plaintiff failed to present evidence 
from which a jury could determine that a 
defect in the copier was the proximate cause 
of the fire.  The experts theorized that a ther-
mal fuse was defective, but their experimen-
tal tests did not demonstrate that the heating 
element could generate an open flame before 
the thermal fuse was opened.  Id. at 1061.  In 
addition, the experts advanced no theory 
showing how the heater control circuitry 
could malfunction to produce an electrical 
current to state a fire.  Id.  
 
 The Court finds that Fireman’s 
Fund involved facts distinct from those here.  
The experts, whose opinions were excluded, 
had changed their opinions, failed to articu-
late a defect and their opinions did not mesh 
with the empirical evidence.  The Court finds 
that Plaintiff ‘s expert Hansen has advanced 
sufficient theory of proximate causation and 
his opinion is not inconsistent with the em-
pirical evidence.  Defendant’s motion for 
summary judgment on this ground is denied. 
 
 B.  Failure to Warn 
 
 “A cause of action for failure to warn 
is separate from one for an allegedly defective 
product design.”  Thompson, 2006 WL 
748280 at *4 (citing Holowaty v. McDonald’s 
Corp., 10 F. Supp.2d 1078, 1085 (D. Minn. 
1998).  It appears that Plaintiff alleges a fail- 

ure to warn only in its strict liability claim.  
(Cf. Counts I & II, Complaint [Doc. No. 1-1].)  
In any event, the Minnesota Supreme Court 
has determined that strict liability and negli-
gent failure to warn claims are analyzed un-
der the same standard.  Johnson v. Zimmer, 
02-CV-1328 (JRT/FLN), 2004 WL 742038, 
*9, n 8 (D. Minn. Mar. 31, 2004) (citing 
Bilotta v. Kelley Co., 346 N.W.2d 616, 622 
(Minn. 1984).  A plaintiff must establish the 
following elements of a failure to warn claim 
under Minnesota law:  “(1) the defendants 
had reason to know of the dangers of using 
the product; (2) the warnings fell short of 
those reasonably required, breaching the 
duty of care; and (3) the lack of an adequate 
warning caused the plaintiff’s injuries.”  Tut-
tle v. Lorillard Tobacco Co., 377 F.3d 917, 924 
(8th Cir. 2004) (citing Erickson v. Am. 
Honda Motor Co., 455 N.W.2d 74, 77-78 
(Minn. Ct. App. 1990) (quotations omitted)).  
Plaintiff alleges that: 
 
 Sunbeam knew or should have known of 

the potential risk of injury and damage 
associated with the manufacture, design 
and/or distribution of its heating pad as 
provided, and had a duty to warn con-
sumers of the same.  Its failure to do so in 
this case is the cause of the fire and that 
damages claimed herein. 

 
(Compl. ¶18 [Doc. No. 1-1].) 

 
 Under Minnesota law, a manufac-
turer has a duty to warn the users of its prod-
ucts of all dangers that are associated with 
those products of which it has actual or con-
structive knowledge.  Gryc v. Dayton-
Hudson Corp., 297 N.W.2d 727, 739 (Minn. 
1980); Harmon Contract Glazing, Inc. v. 
Libby-Owens-Ford Co., 493 N.W.2d 146, 151 
(Minn. Ct. App. 1992).  “Failure to provide 
such warnings will render the product unrea-
sonably dangerous and will subject the 
manufacturer to liability for damages under 
strict liability in tort.”  Gryc, 2 97 N.W.2d at 
739 (quotation omitted).  The question of 
whether a duty to warn exists is a question of 
law for the Court.  Harmon, 493 N.W.2d 151.  
The adequacy of a warning is typically a 
question of fact for the jury.  Balder v. Haley, 
399 N.W.2d 77, 81 (Minn. 1987). 
 
 Where  an adequate warning could 
not have prevented a plaintiff’s injuries, the 
manufacturer’s failure to warn is not the 
cause of the injury.  Johnson, 2004 WL 
742038 at *9 (citing Balder, 399 N.W.2d at 
81. 
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If there are warnings on the product, Courts 
consider whether the plaintiff or injured 
party has read the applicable warnings.  “In a 
failure-to-warn case, when a warning label is 
affixed to the product, ‘[a]bsent a reading of 
the warning, there is no causal link between 
the alleged defect and the injury.’”  Yennie v. 
Dickey Consumer Prods.  No. C1-00-89, 2000 
WL 1052175, *2 (Minn. Ct. App. Aug. 1, 
2000.)) 
 
 Sunbeam argues that it provided 14 
warnings as part of the instructions for use 
for the heating pad (Instructions for Use, 
Appendix B to Blanchard Report [Doc, No. 41
-1 at 34]), and provided 13 warnings printed 
directly on to the cover of the heating pad.  
(Photo of Heating Pad Cover and Heating 
Pad Warnings, Appendices C & D to Blanch-
ard Report [Doc. No. 41-1 at 39 & 41].)  The 
warnings on the heating pad and its cover 
include the following:  “DO NOT USE 
WHILE SLEEPING;” “THIS PAD IS NOT TO 
BE USED ON AN INVALID, A SLEEPING 
OR UNCONSCIOUS PERSON, A PERSON 
WITH POOR BLOOD CIRCULATION, A 
PARALYZED PERSON OR A PERSON 
WITH DIABETES;” “PLACE PAD ON TOP 
OF AND NOT UNDER THE PART OF THE 
BODY NEEDING HEAT,” “UNPLUG 
WHEN NOT IN USE, NEVER USE PINS OR 
OTHER METALLIC MEANS TO FASTEN 
THIS PAD IN PLACE.”  (Id.) (emphasis 
added). 
 
 Plaintiff has not provided evidence 
that the heating pad users, the Horejsis, read 
the accompanying warnings.  Mrs. Horejsi 
testified that her husband did not read the 
instructions or information that came with 
the heating pad and she cannot remember if 
she did.  (Horejsi Dep. at 55, Ex. 1 to Barron 
Aff. [Doc. No. 30-1].)  Whether she read the 
warnings or not, Plaintiff has not shown that 
the Horejsis would have acted differently had 
they known of the risk, even if provided with 
different or additional warnings.  Rather, the 
evidence shows that even if the Horejsis had 
read the warnings, they ignored many of 
them.  For instance, Mrs. Horejsi testified 
that the heating pad was used to warm her 
husband’s feed, due to his poor circulation 
(id. at 17), although the product warnings 
indicate that it is not be used by someone 
with poor circulation.  At her deposition, she 
testified that she did not recall any such 
warning.  (Id. at 102.)  She also testified that 

heating pad was plugged in at the time of the 
fire, but not turned on (Id. at 17-18), although 
the product warnings indicate that it should be 
unplugged when not in use.  She also testified 
that she had no recollection of any such warn-
ing regarding unplugging the device.  (Id. at 
102.) Mrs. Horejsi taped the heating pad to the 
mattress pad so that her husband could place 
his feet on top of it (id. at 56-57),  although the 
product warnings indicate that the pad is to be 
placed on top of the body, rather than under-
neath it.  Mrs. Horejsi testified that she had no 
recollection of such a warning regarding place-
ment of the heating pad on the body (Id. at 
102.)  Had she been aware of these warnings, 
Mrs. Horejsi testified that she did not know 
whether she would have let her husband use 
the heating pad in the manner in which he used 
it.  Rather, she thought she was using it safely 
and in the only manner that worked for her 
husband.  (Id. at 103-04.)  In addition to this 
testimony, Plaintiff’s experts do not offer an 
opinion regarding the adequacy of the warnings 
at issue or whether a different warning would 
have prevented Plaintiff’s damages. 
 
 In Yennie, the Minnesota Court of 

Appeals found that the plaintiff failed to show 
that her deceased husband had read the warn-
ing labels on the over-the-counter drug in ques-
tion.  2000 WL 1052175 at *2.  Even if he had, 
the court found that he disregarded them.  
Therefore, the trial court determined, and was 
affirmed on appeal, that the evidence was insuf-
ficient to demonstrate a causal connection be-
tween the allegedly inadequate warnings and 
the decedent’s death.  Id.   Moveover, in  Quist, 
while this Court found that expert testimony 
was not needed as to the sufficiency of Sun-
beam’s warnings, it also held that Sunbeam did 
not owe a post-sale duty to warn about reports 
of its heating pads causing fires. Quist, 2010 
WL 1665254 at *5.  Under Minnesota law, a 
continuing duty to warn of dangers associated 
with using a product arises only in “special 
cases.”  Hodder v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 
426 N.W.2d 826, 833 (Minn. 1988).  This Court 
found it unreasonable in Quist to expect a 
manufacturer of heating pads to “adequately 
trace the owners of their products, who often 
purchase them anonymously, without registra-
tion, from pharmacies and discount stores,”  
Quist, 2010 WL 1665254 at *5. 
 
 The Court finds that Plaintiff’s evi-

dence on its failure to warn theory of liability is 
insufficient to withstand summary judgment.  
For these reasons, summary judgment is 

granted in part as to Plaintiff’s failure to warn 
claim. 
 
THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED 
THAT: 
 
1. Defendant’s Motion to Exclude Testi-

mony and Opinions of Ronald C. Rah-
man [Doc. No. 23] is DENIED; 

 
2. Defendant’s Motion to Exclude Testi-

mony and Opinions of Paul W. Hansen 
[Doc. No. 27] is DENIED, 

 
3. Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judg-

ment [Doc. No. 33] is DENIED in part, 
and GRANTED in part, consistent with 
this order. 

 
4. Plaintiff’s claims for breach of express 

and implied warranty (Count III) are 
DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE; and 

 
5. Plaintiff’s claim for failure to warn 

(found in Count II) is DISMISSED 
WITH PREJUDICE. 

 
 
Dated: January 17, 2012 
 
 
 s/Susan Richard Nelson 
 SUSAN RICHARD NELSON 
 United States District Judge 

<<< Page 2    
Inside Fire <<< Page 8  



Inside Fire>>> 

News About Us >>> 

Congratulations to Doug Noah, CFI, who is celebrating his third anniversary 
with Whitemore Fire Consultants, Inc. 

____________________________________ 
 

Congratulations to Brian Haag, CFI, who is celebrating his 13th  year with 
Whitemore Fire Consultants. 

____________________________________ 
 

Congratulations to Robert Whitemore and the entire staff of Whitemore Fire 
Consultants, Inc.  We are starting our 17th year of providing origin and cause 
investigation services. 
 

____________________________________ 
 
 
Congratulations to Mark McCue, CFI.  Mark will be starting his 17th year as 
an investigator with Whitemore Fire Consultants, Inc.  Happy Anniversary! 

____________________________________ 
 

 
Brian R. Whitemore, FIT, is starting his third year with Whitemore Fire Con-
sultants, Inc. 
 

____________________________________ 
 

 
Congratulations to Amy Powell in her promotion as “Business Manager” for 
Whitemore Fire Consultants, Inc. 
 
 
 

The Minnesota Chapter of the Interna-
tional Association of Arson Investigators 
will be holding their Annual Seminar 
and Meeting on March 28-30 at the 
Holiday Inn in St. Cloud, Minnesota.  For 
more information, or to complete a reg-
istration form, please visit the IAAI’s Min-
nesota Chapter website:  
www.mniaai.org. 
 

____________ 
 

International Association of Arson Inves-
tigators Annual Seminar & Training Con-
ference—April 22-27, 2012 in Dover, 
Delaware.  For more information or to 
register online, please visit their website 
at:  iaai.com. 

After much discussion, attempting to 
determine a date where the majority of 
our clients can attend, we have sched-
uled our next seminar for September 7, 
2012. 
 
Many of you expressed that Fall was the 
best time to provide educational oppor-
tunities.  So September 7th is the date.  
More details pertaining to the topics, 
times, location and other events will be 
forthcoming in the next months.  But, 
we wanted to give you a heads-up so you 
can mark your calendar. 
 
Thank you to everyone who provided 
their feedback . . . Our intent is to pro-
vide you with timely, relevant educa-
tional opportunities provided by the 
Upper Midwest’s  respected experts and 
lawyers. 
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The U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission, in cooperation with ECHO, Inc. 
of Lake Zurich, Illinois has announced a voluntary recall of the Gas Powered 
Backpack Blower.  Consumers should immediately stop using the recalled prod-
uct unless otherwise instructed.  It is illegal to resell or attempt to resell a recalled 
consumer product. 
 
Approximately 16,000 units that were manufactured in the United States were 
sold at Home Depot and authorized ECHO dealers from August 2011 through 
January 2012 for approximately $270.00.  The fuel line between the fuel tank and 
carburetor could have been damaged during assembly leading to a fuel leakage, 
posing a fire hazard.   
 
This recall involves two models of the ECHO2-cycle gas powered backpack blow-
ers.  The 25.4 cc blowers are orange and black in color and “ECHO” is printed on 
the pull starter housing and blower tube.  Model numbers are on a label near the 
pull starter handle.  Serial numbers are on a label near the gas filler cap.   Models 
and corresponding serials included in this recall are 
 
 Model    Serial Numbers 
 
 PB-265L  P093121 35519 through P093121 50152 
 PB-265L  P078110 20732 through P078110 22309 
 
For additional information, contact ECHO through their website:  
www.echo-usa.com for a free repair. 

ECHO Recalls  Backpack Blowers Due to Fire Hazard 

 

Meijer Recalls Touch Point Fan Heaters  

The U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission in cooperation with Meijer, 
Inc. of Grand Rapids, Michigan has recalled the Touch Point fan heaters, manu-
factured in China.  Approximately 6,000 units were sold exclusively at Meijer 
stores in Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, Michigan and Ohio from September 2011 
through November 2011 for approximately $20.00.  Exposed and unshielded 
electrical components can cause the heater to overheat and melt and damaging 
the carpet beneath it.  No injuries have been reported. 
 
This recall involves the Touch Point brand oscillating forced air fan heaters 
with model number HW-218 and date code 0811.  The model number and date 
code are on a silver sticker on the bottom of the heater.  Universal Product 
Code (UPC) 7-13733-30927-1 is on the bottom of the packaging.  The heaters are 
white and have two round control knobs and a red warning light on the top 
front and a black on/off switch on the front base.  For more information, please 
contact Meijer at their website www.meijer.com. 



The U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission in coopera-
tion with Worthington Cylinders Wisconsin, LLC of Chil-
ton, Wisconsin announced a voluntary recall of the Map Pro, 
Propylene and MAPP Gas Cylinders.  The units are manufac-
tured in Chilton, Wisconsin and sold at various plumbing/
HVAC distributors, Home Depot, Lowes and Ace Hardware 
Stores nationwide and in Canada from October 2004 through 
January 2012 for about $7 to $13 for cylinders and $45 to $75 
for the torch kits. 
 
The seal on the cylinders can leak after torches or other fuel 
consuming equipment are disconnected from, then posing a 
fire hazard.  The cylinders contain propylene gas and are used 
for soldering, brazing, cutting and welding.  They contain 

14.1 oz. Map-Pro, 13.1 oz. Propylene or 16 oz. MAPP (Methyl 
Acetylene Propadiene Stabilized).  The cylinders are approxi-
mately 3” in diameter and 11” tall and are either yellow or black in 
color.  They were sold alone and in kits that include a torch and a 
cylinder.  For a complete list of torch kits and the various labels, please visit the CPSC 
website at:  www.cpsc.gov. 
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AmerTac Recalls LED Night Lights 

The U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission in cooperation with American 
Tack & Hardware announces a voluntary recall of the LED Night Light, manu-
factured in China, imported by American Tack & Hardware.  Approximately 
227,000 units were sold at hardware stores, home centers and lighting show-
rooms from March 2009 through October 2010 for approximately $6.00.  
AmeTac has received 25 reports of the night lights smoking, burning, melting 
and charring.  No injuries have been reported. 
 
Three night lights are being recalled.  Each has a model name and two model 
numbers.  The model name and second model number appear only on the pack-
aging.  The basic model number appears on the back of the night light.  The night 
lights are rectangular, about 2 3/16 inches high, 3 1/2 inches wide, and 1 1/4 
inches deep.  The front housings for each are either white or nickel colored plas-
tic with four horizontal vents and a round light sensor above the top vent.  Model 
name on packaging are Amerelle | 71190, Amertac | 327895, Everyday Basics 
|076092.  Model number of night light 71190 or 71190A. 
 
An electrical short circuit in the light can cause it to overheat and smolder or melt posing a fire and burn hazard to 
consumers.  Consumers should immediately stop using the recalled lights, remove them from the wall sockets and 
contact AmerTac  through their website:  www.recall-center.com. 
 
For more information, please visit the firms website for a full description of the product and model numbers. 



It’s EASY . . . Go to our website: 
www.whitemorefire.com 
 
Click on “Submit a Loss” tab . . . 
 
Answer the questions on the form, 
press “submit” and you will receive an 
electronic confirmation of receipt of 
your loss as well as a response from the 
on-call representative. 

Contact us at 952-461-7000 OR 
www.whitemorefire.com 

PO Box 1261 
Prior Lake, MN 55372 


